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SECTION 1 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 Description of TSTC  
 
Texas State Technical College (“TSTC”) a state-supported two-year technical college and is the 
state’s largest provider of technical education. TSTC was originally established in 1965 as the 
James Connally Technical Institute (JCTI), a two year college in the Texas A&M University System 
designed to meet the state’s evolving workforce needs.  In 1969, the State of Texas gained 
ownership of James Connally Air Force Base and renamed the college Texas State Technical 
Institute (TSTI), which became a separate state agency with its own Board of Regents, appointed 
by the governor. TSTC been continuously accredited by equivalent enrollment of approximately 
12,000. In contrast with Texas’s regionally-focused community colleges, TSTC has a statewide role 
and mission with a legislative mandate to focus specifically on highly specialized, advanced, and 
emerging technical and vocational areas leading to certificates or associate degrees.  
 
In 2015, the college was granted single-accreditation status from the Southern Association of 
Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges, the regional body for the accreditation of degree-
granting higher education institutions in the Southern states. The college central administration 
is located in Waco, Texas, the site of the flagship campus. The college has campuses in Abilene, 
Breckenridge, Brownwood, Fort Bend County, Harlingen, Marshall, North Texas (Red Oak), 
Sweetwater, Waco, and Williamson County.  

 
1.2 Background and Special Circumstances  
 

TSTC (TSTC or College) currently conducts business with separate banks for each of its campus 
locations. Going forward, TSTC intends to enter into a contract with one bank to serve all TSTC 
locations statewide.  

 
1.3 Objective of Request for Proposal  

 
TSTC is soliciting proposals from qualified vendors to provide banking services (Services) more 
specifically described in Section 4.2 (Scope of Work) of this Request for Proposal (RFP), 
including banking and depository services for all ten existing TSTC locations statewide and Central 
Administration.   
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SECTION 2 
 

NOTICE TO PROPOSER 
 
2.1 Submittal Deadline  
 

TSTC will accept proposals until 2:00p.m. Central Standard Time, on Tuesday, May 2, 2017 
(Submittal Deadline). Refer to Section 3 – Submission of Proposal.  

 

2.2 RFP Contact Information and Questions  
 

Interested parties may direct questions about this RFP to: 
 
Mary G. Hernandez, MBA, CTPM 
Sr. Executive Director for Procurement and Travel Services  
Mary.hernandez@tstc.edu  
 
Email Subject Line: RFP No. RFP-17-MH-001 

 
TSTC instructs interested parties to restrict all contact and questions regarding this RFP to written 
communications delivered in accordance with this Section on or before Tuesday, April 18, 2017 
at 10:00am (Question Deadline).  
 
TSTC will provide responses as soon as practicable following the Question Deadline. TSTC intends 
to respond to all timely submitted questions. However, TSTC reserves the right to decline to 
respond to any question. 

 

2.3 Criteria for Selection  
 

The successful Proposer, if any, selected by the College through this RFP will be the Proposer that 
submits a proposal on or before the Submittal Deadline that is the most advantageous to the 
College. The successful Proposer is referred to as “Contractor.” 

 
Proposer is encouraged to propose terms and conditions offering the maximum benefit to the 
College in terms of (1) service, (2) total overall cost, and (3) project management expertise.  
 
The evaluation of proposals and the selection of Contractor will be based on the information 
provided in the proposal. College may consider additional information if College determines the 
information is relevant.  

 
Criteria to be considered by College in evaluating proposals and selecting Contractor, will be these 
factors:  
 

2.3.1 Threshold Criteria Not Scored 

● Ability of TSTC to comply with laws regarding Historically Underutilized 
Businesses; and 

● Ability of TSTC to comply with laws regarding purchases from persons with 

mailto:Mary.hernandez@tstc.edu


REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

Page 4 

disabilities. 

 

2.3.2 Scored Criteria  

● 40% - banking services costs, prior Texas state agency experience, references 

● 35% - responsiveness, innovativeness, and ability to provide services required 

● 10% - potential earnings  

● 10% - creditworthiness and stability of the bank 

●   5% - support for higher education.  

 

2.4 Key Events Schedule  
 

Date RFP Issued Tuesday, April 11, 2017  
 

Question Deadline (ref. to Section 2.2 of this RFP) Tuesday, April 18, 2017, 10am  
 
Submittal Deadline (ref. to Section 2.1 of this RFP) Tuesday, May 2, 2017, 2pm CST 
 
Formal Presentations (ref. to Section 2.6 of this RFP) week of May 8-12, 2017 (tentatively) 
 
Award of Contract (estimated date) May 19, 2017 
 
Contract Commencement (estimated date) July 1, 2017 

 
2.5 Historically Underutilized Businesses  
 

All agencies of the State of Texas are required to make a good faith effort to assist historically 
underutilized businesses (HUBs) in receiving contract awards. The goal of the HUB program is to 
promote full and equal business opportunity for all businesses in contracting with state agencies. 
Pursuant to the HUB program, if under the terms of any agreement or contractual arrangement 
resulting from this RFP, Contractor subcontracts any of the Services, then Contractor must make 
a good faith effort to utilize HUBs certified by the Procurement and Support Services Division of 
the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts. Proposer acknowledges that, if selected by the College, 
its obligation to make a good faith effort to utilize HUBs when subcontracting any of the Services 
will continue throughout the term of all agreements and contractual arrangements resulting from 
this RFP. Furthermore, any subcontracting of the Services by the Proposer is subject to review by 
the College to ensure compliance with the HUB program. 

 
2.5.1 TSTC has reviewed this RFP in accordance with 34 Texas Administrative Code (TAC) 

Section 20.285, and has determined that subcontracting opportunities are not probable 
under this RFP.  

https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=34&pt=1&ch=20&rl=285
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=34&pt=1&ch=20&rl=285
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=34&pt=1&ch=20&rl=285
https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.TacPage?sl=R&app=9&p_dir=&p_rloc=&p_tloc=&p_ploc=&pg=1&p_tac=&ti=34&pt=1&ch=20&rl=285
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2.6 Formal Presentation 
 
TSTC will invite a short list of Proposers to present their capabilities in a formal presentation. The 
focus of the presentation will be to display the Proposer’s capabilities to provide the required 
services. Proposers will be contacted with a date and time for presentations after the submittal 
deadline.  

 

2.7 Group Purchase Authority 
 

Texas law authorizes institutions of higher education (defined by Section 61.003, Education Code) 
to use the group purchasing procurement method (ref. Sections 51.9335, Education Code). 
Additional Texas institutions of higher education may therefore elect to enter into a contract with 
the successful Proposer. In particular, Proposer should note that TSTC is comprised of several 
campuses across the state described at http://www.tstc.edu/about/welcome. TSTC may routinely 
evaluate whether a contract resulting from a procurement conducted by one of the campuses 
might be suitable for use by another, and if so, this could give rise to additional purchase volumes. 
As a result, in submitting its proposal in response to this RFP, Proposer should consider proposing 
pricing and other commercial terms that take into account such higher volumes and other 
expanded opportunities that could result from the eventual inclusion of other institutions in the 
purchase contemplated by this RFP. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/ED/htm/ED.61.htm#61.003
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/ED/htm/ED.61.htm#61.003
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/ED/htm/ED.51.htm#51.9335
http://www.tstc.edu/about/welcome
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SECTION 3 
 

SUBMISSION OF PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Number of Copies  
 

Proposer must submit one (1) complete paper copy of its entire proposal, and one (1) complete 
electronic copy of its entire proposal in a single PDF file on a flash drive or CD. An original signature 
by an authorized officer of Proposer must appear on the Execution of Offer (ref. Section 2 of 
APPENDIX ONE) of the submitted paper copy of the proposal. 
 

3.2 Submission  
 

Proposals must be received by TSTC on or before the Submittal Deadline (ref. Section 2.1 of this 
RFP) and delivered to:  

 

Mary G. Hernandez, MBA, CTPM 
Texas State Technical College  
Procurement and Travel Services   
1902 N. Loop 499, Building I, Room 112 
Harlingen, Texas 78550 

 

3.3 Proposal Validity Period  
 

Each proposal must state that it will remain valid for College’s acceptance for a minimum of 120 
days after the Submittal Deadline, to allow time for evaluation, selection, and any unforeseen 
delays.  

 

3.4 Submittal Checklist  
 

Proposer is instructed to complete, sign, and return the following documents as a part of its 
proposal. If Proposer fails to return each of the following items with its proposal, then College 
may reject the proposal:  

 

3.4.1 Responses to questions and requests for information in the Specifications and Additional 
Questions Section (ref. Section 4 of this RFP)  

 

3.4.2 Signed and Completed Execution of Offer (ref. Section 2 of APPENDIX ONE)  
 

3.4.3 Responses to Proposer's General Questionnaire (ref. Section 3 of APPENDIX ONE)  
 

3.4.4 Signed and Completed Addenda Checklist (ref. Section 4 of APPENDIX ONE) 
 

3.4.5 Signed and Completed Pricing Schedule (ref. APPENDIX TWO)  
 

3.4.6  Signed Certification By Registered Principal Of Investment Firm/Bank of TSTC’s Policy for 
Investments (ref. page 11 of APPENDIX THREE) 
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SECTION 4 
 

SPECIFICATIONS AND ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS 
 
4.1 General  
 

Minimum requirements and specifications for the Services, as well as certain requests for 
information to be provided by Proposer as part of its proposal, are set forth below. As indicated 
in Section 2.3 of this RFP, the successful Proposer is referred to as “Contractor.” 

 
4.2 Scope of Work  

  
The banking services described in this RFP are directed toward five major goals: 
 

● efficient utilization of available banking services and technologies, 
● minimization of banking costs, 
● safety of College funds,  
● effective, market rate, investment of idle bank—held funds, and  
● consolidation of banking services for all TSTC locations statewide.  

 
As a public entity, the safety of the funds and assets of the College is paramount. The use of 
technology to minimize manual or time-consuming operations will be a continuing effort and the 
bank will be expected to bring applicable new technologies to the College's attention through the 
RFP and throughout the contract period. Dependent upon the rate environment, the College 
intends to obtain the best short term investment rates either through bank alternatives or short 
term money markets through sweeps for the best reasonable yield. 
 
The College requires a depository that is fiscally strong and able to provide the required services 
on an uninterrupted basis.  College funds are public funds and fall under provisions of the Public 
Funds Investment Act and the Public Funds Collateral Act (Texas Government Code Chapters 2256 
and 2257). All time and demand funds above FDIC insurance coverage must be collateralized at a 
minimum of 100 percent of the deposit amount by securities authorized by the College and 
defined in this RFP.  
 

Required Banking Services 
 
To be considered, the proposal must include a response to each of the questions in this Section 
in the order given. All fees for associated and anticipated services must be detailed on 
APPENDIX TWO – PRICING SCHEDULE.  

 
1. Consolidated Account Structure with Sweep Mechanism  

 
The College is interested in assuring that all funds are earning the best available interest rates at 
all times. The College does not currently sweep account balances but may consider use of money 
market accounts or an automated, daily sweep to a money market mutual fund (or bank 
alternative if applicable and competitive). Please provide details of your sweep products.  
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2. Automated Cash Management Information Access  
 

The College strives for efficiencies in its operations and attempts to reduce paper transactions 
and staff time in the processing of transactions.  
 
The College requires timely access to prior and intra-day (as optional) detail and balance 
reporting. It requires automation within the various service areas such as ACH, reconciliation, and, 
increasingly, electronic data interchange. Imaging retention and access is required. Imaging of 
deposit slips and deposit items is also highly preferred. All reports, statements, and account 
analyses are to be available in electronic form.  

 
Minimum automated daily reporting services shall include:  

 
▪ prior day summary and detail balance reporting on all accounts,  
▪ intra-day detail reporting on most accounts,  
▪ initiation and monitoring of stop pays,  
▪ initiation and reporting of positive pay and exception transactions,  
▪ initiation and monitoring of internal transfers, wire transfers, and ACH  

 
a) Fully describe the bank's web-based service capabilities. List system capabilities by service 

(i.e. balance reporting, wires, checks, ACH, positive pay, stop pay, etc.). Are all services 
provided through one portal?  

b) Are all online services fees bundled or are individual service modules priced separately? 
Which, if any, services are priced separately?  

c) Does the bank charge fees for image creation, image retrieval or image retention? Explain.  
d) Do the bank's systems include a standard cash forecasting module or capability?  
e) When is prior day information available? Is intra-day information available on a real-time 

basis?  
f) Can data be drawn across modules and activities for reporting purposes? Describe fully with 

examples.  
g) How long is data (including images) archived and retrievable?  
h) Describe provisions for bank backup and continuation of services in a disaster situation. What 

disaster recovery services can the bank offer if the College cannot operate from its facilities 
temporarily?  

i) Describe the security protocols for online services. How is the administration of the security 
module established and maintained?  

j) What type of information technology consulting will the bank provide as part of this contract? 
What charges will apply?  

k) Submit samples of major screens and reports available or provide a website and sign-on 
information for an online review of all the system functions.  

l) Is the system proprietary or provided by a third-party? Will the bank provide support if a third-
party system is used?  

m) Describe any capabilities for electronic, automated file transfer to/from the bank.  
 

3. Depository Services  
 

Standard commercial deposit services are required. Deposits are currently collected, balanced, 
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and deposited from multiple locations. A staff member will make multiple deposits daily. The 
College may move toward remote deposit or deposit solely by armored transport but initially 
multiple methodologies will be used.  
 
The College does not use controlled disbursement services or a lockbox but may consider utilizing 
them in the future.  
 
In general, daily deposits during a year will mainly utilize checks, strapped or loose currency, and 
loose or rolled coin. This deposits can vary substantially during the peak revenue months of 
January, May, August, and December. The College is trying to initiate recycling of its own internal 
coinage to reduce deposit costs but a large amount of currency/coinage is still deposited. The 
College does not currently encode any checks, but may choose to do so in the future.  
 
The College accepts credit and debit cards over the internet and in person at numerous points-of-
sale. All merchant services are handled currently outside the banking contract. Merchant services 
will not be addressed in the RFP nor be part of this contract.  
 
The College requires same bank day credit on all coin and currency deposits, and on-us checks. All 
cleared deposits received by the bank's established deadline and in accordance with the banking 
institutions availability schedule must be processed in accordance with that availability schedule 
or an expedited schedule as offered by the bank. The bank shall guarantee immediate credit on 
all incoming wire transfers. Failure to credit College accounts in a timely fashion will require 
interest payment reimbursement to the institution at the then-current daily Fed Funds rate and 
represent an event of default.  

 
a) What is the bank's daily cut—off time to assure same day ledger and, pending availability, 

collected credit at banking center, branch, vault, remote, and night deposit locations? Specify 
the address and location times for each type location which will serve the College.  

b) What are the requirements for separating cash and checks if any? Is rolling of coin required?  
c) Is there any limit to the number of deposits in one bag? Are these handled on separate 

advices?  
d) What level of reporting is given on deposited (received) items?  
e) When and how are credit/debit advices sent from the each deposit location type? Are these 

advices sent electronically, by email or only on the bank reporting system?  
f) Do the advices reference location? Does the bank offer deposit location tracing? Describe.  
g) Are originals or images of originals included with each deposit and advice?  
h) Are all deposited checks, deposit slips and deposited items imaged and reported online?  
i) Describe the bank's standard return and re-clear processing. Do return records identify the 

depositing location, reason, and transaction?  
j) How and when does notification occur on return items? List the elements reported.  
k) Are returned items imaged and available online? How are they processed? Are return items 

accessible by location?  
l) Where is the vault that will serve the College? Is online cash vault reporting available? Is vault 

supply ordering available online?  
m) Does the bank offer a night deposit facility within 30 miles of the campus? If not, describe 

how the deposit process would take place.  
n) Does the bank identify and automatically adjust deposit discrepancies? If so, at what levels? 
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What method is used for reporting of adjustment notices?  
o) What sort of deposit bags are used or required for use in the night depository? Can these be 

obtained from the bank, and at what cost?  
p) Are dual verification security measures used on receipt of all deposits and at each type deposit 

location? (Banking center, branch, teller and vault processing.)  
q) How much advance notice is required on coin and currency orders? Can orders be made 

online? Is there any minimum purchase requirement? What is the turn-around time?  
r) State any differences in the bank's “Availability Policy” from its published Availability 

Schedule. Are any deposits or credits delayed for any reason?  
s) Describe any program the bank has for automated collections management and consolidation 

(e-receivables).  
t) Cost out the following described deposit as if (i) made at the vault, (ii) at the banking center, 

and (m) as a night deposit. What would this deposit cost the College in service costs?  
u) Does the bank allow cash back off of a commercial deposit composed solely of checks?  
v) Does the bank supply deposit bags for large quantities of unrolled coin, currency straps, and 

coin rollers? If so, at what cost?  
 
SAMPLE DEPOSIT:  
The sample deposit would be made (a) in four (4) tamper-proof deposit bags, (b) with strapped 
where possible as shown below, (c) with coins that are not rolled, (d) with tapes attached to 
bundled but not endorsed checks.  
 

Currency  
Denom.  # Straps  Loose $  Total $ 
$100  5  $ 300  $50,300 
$50  6  $ 600  $30,600 
$20  4  $ 340  $  8,340 
$10  9  $   70  $  9,070  
$5  22  $ 175  $11,175 
$1  50  $   14  $  5,014  $  114,499 

 
Coins 
$.25      $    427 
$.10      $    114 
$.05      $      10 
$.01      $        2  $          553 

 
Checks 
280 Checks     $140,252 $  140,252 

 
Total Deposit Amount      $  255,304 

 
4. Remote Electronic Check Acceptance and Conversion  

 
Remote check acceptance will be required during the contract period. It is anticipated that the 
College will expand this collection process during the contract period, if cost effective. The remote 
deposits will be used at both point of sale and back office operations.  
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a) Describe the bank‘s remote deposit processing capabilities. Describe the recommended 
process for remote processing of checks.  

b) Are images provided as part of the processing process? Are images maintained online? When 
are the images available and for how long?  

c) Does the bank provide remote deposit processing currently? Give three references for 
comparable size or use entities.  

d) What disclosure signage is required? Is this provided?  
e) Can batches be calculated and deposited at multiple times during the business day? Are costs 

calculated by deposit?  
f) What is the final cut-off time for deposits?  
g) How is notification of a reject made and to whom?  
h) Are there any dollar limits on checks accepted?  
i) List the equipment required along with its approximate cost. Describe lease or sale options.  
j) List any other equipment needed to complete the remote collection process at each location.  
k) Describe and provide a sample of the screens and reports provided.  

 
5. Re-presentment of Checks (RCK)  

 
The College may consider the re-presentment of checks through ACH if it would prove cost 
efficient and improve collection of NSF checks.  

 
a) Describe the bank's re—presentment process with a targeted date for re-presentment 

accomplished through ACH.  
b) How many times is re-presentment allowed as a standard procedure?  

 
6. Standard Disbursing Services and Positive Pay  

 
Standard disbursing services for all accounts are required to include the payment of all College 
staff and student checks without charge upon presentation. The College requires positive pay 
services for all its checks and accounts under this contract with complete indemnification for 
fraudulent checks.  
 
Check register information should be transmitted electronically. The proposal should provide a 
fully automated and web compatible transmission process. Transmissions will be made as part of 
each check run or manual check written. Manual check information should be able to be entered 
and transmitted online.  
 
The College will be combining positive pay services with partial reconciliation services.  

 
a) When is daily check clearing information available online through intra—day reporting?  
b) The College requires that the bank cash free of charge all on-us checks for employees and 

students regardless of the individual's account status with the bank. Confirm agreement with 
this condition.  

c) Describe any payment consolidation services (e-payables) offered.  
d) Describe the handling of exception or non-standard items through a payment consolidation 

process.  
e) Describe the data transfer/transmission requirements for computer-generated check runs.  
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f) Describe the online input options for individual, manual checks written.  
g) Define the cost options with and without reconciliation services. How are charges applied 

with and without?  
h) Are positive pay exceptions managed online? Describe the process and timelines.  
i)  What is the response deadline time for exception elections? Is there a “hold” option?  
j) Are all checks, including those received by the tellers and vault, verified against the positive 

pay file before processing?  
k) How often is teller information updated?  
l) What elements are validated on your positive pay processing? Does it include positive payee?  
m) Does the bank review exceptions such as encoding errors for possible repair before creating 

an exception item?  
n) Is email notification or an alert available to multiple individuals if an exception arises?  
o) Can changes to the file be made by ranges online?  

 
7. Account Reconciliation  

 
The College requires availability of reconciliation services combined with positive pay.  

 
a) Describe the bank's partial reconciliation service.  
b) Describe the bank's full reconciliation service.  
c) What level of automation is available on both levels of reconciliation?  
d) How much flexibility is there for bank systems to interface with existing in-house systems? 

What support will the bank provide on transition?  
e) Specify reporting alternatives and provide samples. What categories do the ARP statements 

include?  
f) Are client defined reports available? What sorting and subtotaling is available on downloads?  
g) When are reports available? How are they provided?  
h) Provide sample reports.  

 
8. ACH Services  

 
The College expects to move toward increased use of ACH. The College uses electronic 
transactions (ACH, wires and transfers) to reduce paper transactions and is expected to increase 
the percentage and volume of electronic transactions. The College will continue to move towards 
more complete and active use of ACH in both collections and disbursement.  

 

9. Wire and Transfer Services  
 
Incoming wire transfers must receive immediate same day, collected credit. Wire initiation must 
be available online. Real-time online wire and transfer monitoring is preferable but not required. 
Book internal transfers are used extensively between accounts. There is an ongoing need for 
occasional international wires.  
 
a) List the methods of wire initiation and monitoring available.  
b) How will the bank notify the College of Incoming Wires? Is information real-time? For real-

time information is standard intra-day reporting required?  
c) Is it possible to cancel a previously warehoused wire? When? How?  
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d) How is cancellation of a transfer made?  
e) Does the system provide for batch processing of wires and transfers?  
f) What back-up is available to the online wire initiation process?  
g) Does the bank process international wires in the same manner as domestic wires?  
h) Is any paper transaction required for any online wire or transfer transaction?  
i) When are incoming and outgoing wires posted online? Are email or alerts used for 

notification?  
j) Discuss the security provisions for wire transactions and transfer transactions. What entity 

controls the security administration? What secondary or tertiary authorization features are 
available online? Is dual authorization required?  

k) Is future dating of wires available? How far in advance?  
l) Is future dating available for both repetitive and non-repetitive wires and transfers?  
m) Is the Fed reference number included on each wire? The complete trailer? Is it reported online 

and on all reporting?  
n) Does the bank have wire template storage? Under what conditions or limitations? Is there a 

charge for warehousing and templates?  
o) State the bank's policy on the use of ledger balances for outgoing wires in anticipation of 

known daily activity or incoming wires.  
p) Describe the foreign currency conversion process for incoming and outgoing international 

wires. Is there any spread charged over prevailing market FX rates?  
 
10. Safe Deposit Box  
 
During certain periods of the year, the College may choose to utilize Safe Deposit Boxes. Please 
describe the nearest location and relevant fees of renting Safe Deposit Boxes.  
 
11. Collateralization of Deposits  
 
The Depository Contract shall address the following conditions for collateral. These requirements 
are absolute minimums and will not be altered.  
 
Statute requires that all state deposits above the level of federal insurance be fully collateralized. 
Statute further requires that all deposits that are collateralized by securities be protected at a 
minimum of 100 percent of the deposit amount. Securities are accepted at 100 percent of their 
market value. The value of surety bonds and FHLB Letters of Credit are their face value.  
 
TSTC's funds in excess of FDIC-insurance, are to be fully collateralized at all times by government 
securities which include U.S. Treasury obligations and/or direct obligations of Federal agencies or 
instrumentalities including certain mortgage-backed securities, FHLB Letters of Credit or surety 
bonds. 
 
All investments and/or pledged collateral requiring a Moody’s Investor Service or S&P rating of 
“A” or better per Chapter 2256 of the Government Code must be in compliance. An independent 
pricing and rating service organization (“Independent Investment Evaluator or IIE”) will be 
contracted to certify to TSTC on a monthly basis that the securities pledged against its deposits 
are accurately rated and priced at market value.  
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Pledged securities may be held in safekeeping at a commercial bank in the State of Texas, the 
Texas Independent Bankers-Bank (TIB), the Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB), or at the Federal 
Reserve Bank.  
 
The first portion of TSTC's demand and time deposits may be collateralized by the applicable FDIC 
coverage.  
 
The collateral-to-deposit ratio for pledged deposits will be evaluated monthly. The market value 
of the collateral will be evaluated monthly.  

 
a) State the bank's acceptance of the collateral conditions above.  
b) State the bank’s acceptance of the Texas State College Policy for Investments. The policy is 

included as APPENDIX THREE.  
c)  Agree to and sign the “Certification By Registered Principal Of Investment Firm/Bank” located 

on page 11 of the Policy for Investments. 
d)    Does the bank propose any collateral charges, if so how is the charge applied?  

 
12. Account Analysis  
 
A monthly account analysis report must be provided for each account and on a consolidated 
College basis. Within five business days of receipt of the monthly account analysis (and 
subsequent approval of the fees) the bank may direct debit the designated account for fees due 
if compensation is being calculated on a straight fee basis.  
 
A complete account analysis will be required monthly regardless of the payment basis.  
 
a) Provide a sample account analysis including calculation bases.  
b) When is the analysis available each month?  
c) Is the account analysis available online? When are they available online? How long are they 

maintained online?  
d) Is the analysis on the monthly CD-Rom if one is produced?  
 
13. Monthly Statements  
 
The bank must provide monthly account statements on all accounts with complete supporting 
documentation. All accounts must be on a calendar month cycle. Timeliness of statements is 
critical and non-performance will be grounds for termination of contract.  
 
a) Provide a sample monthly statement.  
b) State when monthly statements will be available each month on paper and online.  
c) Is the monthly statement available online? If so, when and how long is it available online?  
d) Are the statements on the monthly CD-Rom if one is produced?  
 
14. Overdrafts  
 
Every effort will be made to eliminate intra-day and inter-day overdrafts. However, should this 
situation arise, state the bank's policy regarding account and total account overdrafts and detail 
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rates and fees, if any, to be charged on a per event or per account basis.  
 
a) Are all accounts aggregated for overdraft calculation purposes or do accounts stand-alone?  
b) State the fee charged per overdraft occurrence.  
c) State any policy on the handling of overdraft items.  
d) State the rate basis for intra-day and inter-day overdrafts, here and on the PRICING 

SCHEDULE.  
 
15. Stop Payments  
 
The College occasionally utilizes stop pays. An automated stop pay process is required.  
 
a) What are the options (time periods) available for stop pays?  
b) How often is teller information updated for stop pays?  
c) What are the options for extending stop pay periods?  
d) What is the deadline for same day action on stop pays?  
e) Are stop pay orders initiated online? Is there any paper follow-up document required?  
f) What information on current and expiring stop pays is available on-line?  

 
16. Optional Services  
 
The College continues to investigate new services for inclusion under its banking services contract. 
The services in this Section are not currently required but will be evaluated in terms of availability, 
feasibility, service levels, services provided, and charges for potential current, or future, use under 
the contract.  
 
Availability of the service and level and cost of the service will be a secondary consideration in the 
evaluation of the primary proposal since the services are not required.  
 
The College reserves the right to accept optional services offered. If an optional service is initiated 
later in the contract period, the services and charges stipulated in the bank’s proposal in response 
to this RFP will be applied.  
 

If the bank currently does not offer the service identified, but is planning to make it available 
during the contract period, the bank should so stipulate in its proposal and should state the 
anticipated date of activation.  
 

A. Student Banking  
 

The College is interested in giving its students the ability to conduct banking activities on campus.  
 
a) Does the bank provide the capability of offering banking services through a campus kiosk or 

similar facility? Describe the proposal in detail including minimum size requirements, along 
with any support that will be provided.  

b) Estimate the staffing levels and hours of this facility.  
c) Provide examples of similar services that the bank is offering to existing higher education 

customers.  
d) List services that will be provided with applicable fees and discounts to students.   
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SECTION 1 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

1.1 Purpose  
 

TSTC is soliciting competitive sealed proposals from Proposers having suitable qualifications and 
experience providing services in accordance with the terms, conditions and requirements set 
forth in this RFP. This RFP provides sufficient information for interested parties to prepare and 
submit proposals for consideration by the College.  
 
By submitting a proposal, Proposer certifies that it understands this RFP and has full knowledge 
of the scope, nature, quality, and quantity of the services to be performed, the detailed 
requirements of the services to be provided, and the conditions under which such services are to 
be performed. Proposer also certifies that it understands that all costs relating to preparing a 
response to this RFP will be the sole responsibility of the Proposer.  
 
PROPOSER IS CAUTIONED TO READ THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS RFP CAREFULLY AND 
TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE RESPONSE TO ALL REQUIREMENTS AND QUESTIONS AS DIRECTED.  

 
1.2 Inquiries and Interpretations 
 

The College may in its sole discretion respond in writing to written inquiries concerning this RFP 
and mail its response as an Addendum to all parties recorded by the College as having received a 
copy of this RFP. Only the College’s responses that are made by formal written Addenda will be 
binding on the College. Any verbal responses, written interpretations or clarifications other than 
Addenda to this RFP will be without legal effect. All Addenda issued by College prior to the 
Submittal Deadline will be and are hereby incorporated as a part of this RFP for all purposes.  
 
Proposers are required to acknowledge receipt of each Addendum as specified in this Section. The 
Proposer must acknowledge all Addenda by completing, signing and returning the Addenda 
Checklist (ref. Section 4 of APPENDIX ONE – Proposal Requirements). The Addenda Checklist 
must accompany the Proposer’s proposal.  

 
Any interested party that receives this RFP by means other than directly from the College is 
responsible for notifying the College that it has received an RFP package, and should provide its 
name, address, telephone and email address, to the College, so that if the College issues Addenda 
to this RFP or provides written answers to questions, that information can be provided to that 
party.  

 
1.3 Public Information  
 

Proposer is hereby notified that the College strictly adheres to all statutes, court decisions 
and the opinions of the Texas Attorney General with respect to disclosure of public information.   
The College may seek to protect from disclosure all information submitted in response to this RFP 
until such time as a final agreement is executed.  
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Upon execution of a final agreement, the College will consider all information, documentation, 
and other materials requested to be submitted in response to this RFP, to be of a non-confidential 
and non-proprietary nature and, therefore, subject to public disclosure under the Texas Public 
Information Act (ref. Chapter 552, Government Code). Proposer will be advised of a request for 
public information that implicates their materials and will have the opportunity to raise any 
objections to disclosure to the Texas Attorney General. Certain information may be protected 
from release under Sections 552.101, 552.104, 552.110, 552.113, and 552.131, Government Code. 

 
1.4 Proposal Evaluation Process  
 

The College will select Contractor by using the competitive sealed proposal process described in 
this Section. Any proposals that are not submitted by the Submittal Deadline will be rejected by 
the College as non-responsive. Upon completion of the initial review and evaluation of proposals, 
the College may invite one or more selected Proposers to participate in oral presentations. The 
College will use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid public disclosure of the contents of a 
proposal prior to selection of Contractor. 
 
The College may make the selection of Contractor on the basis of the proposals initially submitted, 
without discussion, clarification or modification. In the alternative, the College may make the 
selection of Contractor on the basis of negotiation with any of the Proposers. In conducting 
negotiations, the College will use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid disclosing the contents 
of competing proposals.  

 
The College may discuss and negotiate all elements of proposals submitted by Proposers within a 
specified competitive range. For purposes of negotiation, the College may establish, after an initial 
review of the proposals, a competitive range of acceptable or potentially acceptable proposals 
composed of the highest rated proposal(s). In that event, the College may defer further action on 
proposals not included within the competitive range pending the selection of Contractor; 
provided, however, the College reserves the right to include additional proposals in the 
competitive range if deemed to be in the best interest of College.  
 
After the Submittal Deadline but before final selection of Contractor, the College may permit 
Proposer to revise its proposal in order to obtain the Proposer's best and final offer. In that event, 
representations made by Proposer in its revised proposal, including price and fee quotes, will be 
binding on Proposer. The College will provide each Proposer within the competitive range with an 
equal opportunity for discussion and revision of its proposal. The College is not obligated to select 
the Proposer offering the most attractive economic terms if that Proposer is not the most 
advantageous to College overall, as determined by College.  
 
The College reserves the right to (a) enter into an agreement for all or any portion of the 
requirements and specifications set forth in this RFP with one or more Proposers, (b) reject any 
and all proposals and re-solicit proposals, or (c) reject any and all proposals and temporarily or 
permanently abandon this selection process, if deemed to be in the best interests of the College. 
Proposer is hereby notified that the College will maintain in its files concerning this RFP a written 
record of the basis upon which a selection, if any, is made by the College.  

 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.101
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.104
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.110
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.113
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.131
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1.5 Proposer's Acceptance of RFP Terms 
 

Proposer (1) accepts [a] Proposal Evaluation Process (ref. Section 1.4 of APPENDIX ONE – 
Proposal Requirements), [b] Criteria for Selection (ref. 2.3 of this RFP), [c] Specifications and 
Additional Questions (ref. Section 4 of this RFP), and [d] all other requirements and specifications 
set forth in this RFP; and (2) acknowledges that some subjective judgments must be made by the 
College during this RFP process.  

 
1.6 Solicitation for Proposal and Proposal Preparation Costs  
 

Proposer understands and agrees that (1) this RFP is a solicitation for proposals and the College 
has made no representation written or oral that one or more agreements with the College will be 
awarded under this RFP; (2) the College issues this RFP predicated on the College’s anticipated 
requirements for the Services, and the College has made no representation, written or oral, that 
any particular scope of services will actually be required by the College; and (3) Proposer will bear, 
as its sole risk and responsibility, any cost that arises from Proposer’s preparation of a proposal 
in response to this RFP.  

 

1.7 Proposal Requirements and General Instructions  
 

1.7.1 Proposer should carefully read the information contained herein and submit a complete 
proposal in response to all requirements and questions as directed.  

 
1.7.2 Proposals and any other information submitted by Proposer in response to this RFP will 

become the property of the College.  
 
1.7.3 The College will not provide compensation to Proposer for any expenses incurred by the 

Proposer for proposal preparation or for demonstrations or oral presentations that may 
be made by Proposer. Proposer submits its proposal at its own risk and expense.  

 
1.7.4 Proposals that (i) are qualified with conditional clauses; (ii) alter, modify, or revise this 

RFP in any way; or (iii) contain irregularities of any kind, are subject to disqualification by 
the College, at the College’s sole discretion.  

 
1.7.5 Proposals should be prepared simply and economically, providing a straightforward, 

concise description of Proposer's ability to meet the requirements and specifications of 
this RFP. Emphasis should be on completeness, clarity of content, and responsiveness to 
the requirements and specifications of this RFP.  

 
1.7.6 The College makes no warranty or guarantee that an award will be made as a result of 

this RFP. The College reserves the right to accept or reject any or all proposals, waive any 
formalities, procedural requirements, or minor technical inconsistencies, and delete any 
requirement or specification from this RFP when deemed to be in College’s best interest. 
The College reserves the right to seek clarification from any Proposer concerning any item 
contained in its proposal prior to final selection. Such clarification may be provided by 
telephone conference or personal meeting with or writing to the College, at the College’s 
sole discretion. Representations made by Proposer within its proposal will be binding on 
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Proposer.  
 
1.7.7 Any proposal that fails to comply with the requirements contained in this RFP may be 

rejected by the College, in the College sole discretion.  

 
1.8 Preparation and Submittal Instructions  
 

1.8.1 Specifications and Additional Questions  
 

Proposals must include responses to the questions in Specifications and Additional 
Questions (ref. Section 4 of this RFP). Proposer should reference the item number and 
repeat the question in its response. In cases where a question does not apply or if unable 
to respond, Proposer should refer to the item number, repeat the question, and indicate 
N/A (Not Applicable) or N/R (No Response), as appropriate. Proposer should explain the 
reason when responding N/A or N/R.   

 
1.8.2 Execution of Offer  

 
Proposer must complete, sign and return the attached Execution of Offer (ref. Section 2 
of APPENDIX ONE – Proposal Requirements) as part of its proposal. The Execution of 
Offer must be signed by a representative of Proposer duly authorized to bind the Proposer 
to its proposal. Any proposal received without a completed and signed Execution of Offer 
may be rejected by the College, in its sole discretion.  
 

1.8.3 Pricing  
 

Pricing must be completed and submitted using APPENDIX TWO of this RFP. The College 
will not recognize or accept any charges or fees to perform the Services that are not 
specifically stated on APPENDIX TWO.  

 
1.8.4  Proposer’s General Questionnaire  

 
Proposals must include responses to the questions in Proposer’s General Questionnaire 
(ref. Section 3 of APPENDIX ONE – Proposal Requirements). Proposer should reference 
the item number and repeat the question in its response. In cases where a question does 
not apply or if unable to respond, Proposer should refer to the item number, repeat the 
question, and indicate N/A (Not Applicable) or N/R (No Response), as appropriate. 
Proposer should explain the reason when responding N/A or N/R.   
 

1.8.5 Addenda Checklist  
 
Proposer should acknowledge all Addenda to this RFP (if any) by completing, signing and 
returning the Addenda Checklist (ref. Section 4 of APPENDIX ONE – Proposal 
Requirements) as part of its proposal. Any proposal received without a completed and 
signed Addenda Checklist may be rejected by the College, in its sole discretion. 
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1.8.6 Submission  
 
Proposer should submit all proposal materials as instructed in Section 3 of this RFP. RFP 
No. (ref. Title Page of this RFP) and Submittal Deadline (ref. Section 2.1 of this RFP) should 
be clearly shown (1) in the Subject line of any email transmitting the proposal, and (2) in 
the lower left-hand corner on the top surface of any envelope or package containing the 
proposal. In addition, the name and the return address of the Proposer should be clearly 
visible in any email or on any envelope or package. 
  
The College will not under any circumstances consider a proposal that is received after 
the Submittal Deadline. The College will not accept proposals submitted by Email, 
telephone or FAX transmission.  

 
Except as otherwise provided in this RFP, no proposal may be changed, amended, or 
modified after it has been submitted to the College. However, a proposal may be 
withdrawn and resubmitted at any time prior to the Submittal Deadline. No proposal may 
be withdrawn after the Submittal Deadline without the College’s consent, which will be 
based on Proposer's written request explaining and documenting the reason for 
withdrawal, which is acceptable to the College.  
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SECTION 2 
 

EXECUTION OF OFFER 
 

THIS EXECUTION OF OFFER MUST BE COMPLETED, SIGNED AND RETURNED WITH PROPOSER'S 
PROPOSAL. FAILURE TO COMPLETE, SIGN AND RETURN THIS EXECUTION OF OFFER WITH THE 
PROPOSER’S PROPOSAL MAY RESULT IN THE REJECTION OF THE PROPOSAL.  
 
2.1 Representations and Warranties. Proposer represents, warrants, certifies, 
acknowledges, and agrees as follows:  
 

2.1.1 Proposer will furnish the Services to the College and comply with all terms, conditions, 
requirements and specifications set forth in this RFP and any resulting agreement. 

 
2.1.2 This RFP is a solicitation for a proposal and is not a contract or an offer to contract 

Submission of a proposal by Proposer in response to this RFP will not create a contract 
between the College and Proposer. The College has made no representation or warranty, 
written or oral, that one or more contracts with the College will be awarded under this 
RFP. Proposer will bear, as its sole risk and responsibility, any cost arising from Proposer’s 
preparation of a response to this RFP.  
 

2.1.3 Proposer is a reputable company that is lawfully and regularly engaged in providing the 
Services.  
 

2.1.4 Proposer has the necessary experience, knowledge, abilities, skills, and resources to 
perform the Services.  
 

2.1.5 Proposer is aware of, is fully informed about, and is in full compliance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances relating to performance of 
the Services.  
 

2.1.6 Proposer understands the requirements and specifications set forth in this RFP.  
 

2.1.7 Proposer will not delegate any of its duties or responsibilities under this RFP to any sub-
contractor, except as expressly provided in the resulting agreement.  
 

2.1.8 All statements, information and representations prepared and submitted in response to 
this RFP are current, complete, true and accurate. The College will rely on such 
statements, information and representations in selecting Contractor. If selected by the 
College, Proposer will notify the College immediately of any material change in any 
matters with regard to which Proposer has made a statement or representation or 
provided information.  
 

2.1.9 Proposer will defend with counsel approved by the College, indemnify, and hold harmless 
the College, the State of Texas, and all of their regents, officers, agents and employees, 
from and against all actions, suits, demands, costs, damages, liabilities and other claims 
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of any nature, kind or description, including reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in 
investigating, defending or settling any of the foregoing, arising out of, connected with, 
or resulting from any negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of Proposer or any 
agent, employee, subcontractor, or supplier of Proposer in the execution or performance 
of any contract or agreement resulting from this RFP.  

 
2.1.10 Pursuant to Sections 2107.008 and 2252.903, Government Code, any payments owing to 

Proposer under the resulting agreement may be applied directly to any debt or 
delinquency that Proposer owes the State of Texas or any agency of the State of Texas, 
regardless of when it arises, until such debt or delinquency is paid in full.  

 
2.1.11 Any terms, conditions, or documents attached to or referenced in Proposer’s proposal 

are applicable to this procurement only to the extent that they (a) do not conflict with the 
laws of the State of Texas or this RFP, and (b) do not place any requirements on the 
College that are not set forth in this RFP. Submission of a proposal is Proposer's good faith 
intent to enter into an agreement with the College as specified in this RFP and that 
Proposer’s intent is not contingent upon the College’s acceptance or execution of any 
terms, conditions, or other documents attached to or referenced in Proposer’s proposal.  

 

2.2 No Benefit to Public Servants. Proposer has not given or offered to give, nor does Proposer 
intend to give at any time hereafter, any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, 
gratuity, special discount, trip, favor or service to a public servant in connection with its proposal. 
Failure to sign this Execution of Offer, or signing with a false statement, may void the submitted 
proposal or any resulting agreement, and Proposer may be removed from all proposer lists at the 
College.  
 

2.3 Tax Certification. Proposer is not currently delinquent in the payment of any taxes due under 
Chapter 171, Tax Code, or Proposer is exempt from the payment of those taxes, or Proposer is an 
out-of-state taxable entity that is not subject to those taxes, whichever is applicable. A false 
certification will be deemed a material breach of any resulting contract or agreement and, at the 
College's option, may result in termination of any resulting agreement.  

 

2.4 Antitrust Certification. Neither Proposer nor any firm, corporation, partnership or institution 
represented by Proposer, nor anyone acting for such firm, corporation or institution, has violated 
the antitrust laws of the State of Texas, codified in Section 15.01, et seq., Business and Commerce 
Code, or the Federal antitrust laws, nor communicated directly or indirectly the proposal made to 
any competitor or any other person engaged in such line of business.  

 
2.5 Authority Certification. The individual signing this document and the documents made a part 

of this RFP, is authorized to sign the documents on behalf of Proposer and to bind Proposer under 
any resulting agreement.  

 
2.6 Child Support Certification. Under Section 231.006, Family Code, relating to child support, the 

individual or business entity named in Proposer’s proposal is not ineligible to receive award of the 
agreement, and any agreements resulting from this RFP may be terminated if this certification is 
inaccurate.  

 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.2107.htm#2107.008
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.2252.htm#2252.903
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/TX/htm/TX.171.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/TX/htm/TX.171.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/BC/htm/BC.15.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/BC/htm/BC.15.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/BC/htm/BC.15.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/FA/htm/FA.231.htm#231.006
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/FA/htm/FA.231.htm#231.006
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2.7 Relationship Certifications.  
● No relationship, whether by blood, marriage, business association, capital funding agreement 

or by any other such kinship or connection exists between the owner of any Proposer that is 
a sole proprietorship, the officers or directors of any Proposer that is a corporation, the 
partners of any Proposer that is a partnership, the joint venturers of any Proposer that is a 
joint venture, or the members or managers of any Proposer that is a limited liability company, 
on one hand, and an employee of TSTC, on the other hand, other than the relationships which 
have been previously disclosed to the College in writing. 

● Proposer has not been an employee of TSTC within the immediate twelve (12) months prior 
to the Submittal Deadline.  

● No person who, in the past four (4) years served as an executive of a state agency was involved 
with or has any interest in Proposer’s proposal or any contract resulting from this RFP (ref. 
Section 669.003, Government Code).  

● All disclosures by Proposer in connection with this certification will be subject to 
administrative review and approval before the College enters into any agreement resulting 
from this RFP with Proposer.  

 

2.8 Compliance with Equal Employment Opportunity Laws. Proposer is in compliance with all 
federal laws and regulations pertaining to Equal Employment Opportunities and Affirmative 
Action.  

 
2.9 Compliance with Safety Standards. All products and services offered by Proposer to College 

in response to this RFP meet or exceed the safety standards established and promulgated under 
the Federal Occupational Safety and Health Law (Public Law 91-596) and the Texas Hazard 
Communication Act, Chapter 502, Health and Safety Code, and all related regulations in effect or 
proposed as of the date of this RFP. 

 
2.10 Exceptions to Certifications. Proposer will and has disclosed, as part of its proposal, any 

exceptions to the information stated in this Execution of Offer. All information will be subject to 
administrative review and approval prior to the time the College makes an award or enters into 
any agreement with Proposer.  

 
2.11 Manufacturer Responsibility and Consumer Convenience Computer Equipment 

Collection and Recovery Act Certification. If Proposer will sell or lease computer equipment 
to the College under any agreement resulting from this RFP then, pursuant to Section 361.965(c), 
Health & Safety Code, Proposer is in compliance with the Manufacturer Responsibility and 
Consumer Convenience Computer Equipment Collection and Recovery Act set forth in Chapter 
361, Subchapter Y, Health & Safety Code, and the rules adopted by the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality under that Act as set forth in 30 TAC Chapter 328. Section 361.952(2), 
Health & Safety Code, states that, for purposes of the Manufacturer Responsibility and Consumer 
Convenience Computer Equipment Collection and Recovery Act, the term “computer equipment” 
means a desktop or notebook computer and includes a computer monitor or other display device 
that does not contain a tuner. 

 
2.12   Conflict of Interest Certification. 

● Proposer is not a debarred vendor or the principal of a debarred vendor (i.e. owner, 

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.669.htm#669.003
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.669.htm#669.003
https://www.osha.gov/pls/oshaweb/owadisp.show_document?p_table=OSHACT&p_id=2743
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.502.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.502.htm
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#361.965
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#361.965
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#361.965
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#Y
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#Y
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#Y
http://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac$ext.ViewTAC?tac_view=5&ti=30&pt=1&ch=328&sch=I&rl=Y
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#361.952
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#361.952
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/HS/htm/HS.361.htm#361.952
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proprietor, sole or majority shareholder, director, president, managing partner, etc.) either at 
the state or federal level.  

● Proposer’s provision of services or other performance under any agreement resulting from 
this RFP will not constitute an actual or potential conflict of interest. 

● Proposer has disclosed any personnel who are related to any current or former employees of 
the College. 

● Proposer has not given, nor does Proposer intend to give, at any time hereafter, any economic 
opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, trip, favor or service to 
an officer or employee of the College in connection with this RFP. 

 

2.13 Loss of Funding.   Performance by TSTC under the resulting agreement may be dependent upon 
the appropriation and allotment of funds by the Texas State Legislature (the "Legislature") and/or 
allocation of funds by the Board of Regents of Texas State Technical College System (the "Board"). 
If the Legislature fails to appropriate or allot the necessary funds, or the Board fails to allocate the 
necessary funds, then TSTC will issue written notice to Contractor and TSTC may terminate the 
agreement without further duty or obligation hereunder. Contractor acknowledges that 

appropriation, allotment, and allocation of funds are beyond the control of TSTC.   
 

2.14 Proposer should complete the following information:  
 
If Proposer is a Corporation, then State of Incorporation:       
 
If Proposer is a Corporation then Proposer’s Corporate Charter Number:     
 
 

NOTICE: With few exceptions, individuals are entitled on request to be informed about the information that governmental bodies 
of the State of Texas collect about such individuals. Under Sections 552.021 and 552.023, Government Code, individuals are 
entitled to receive and review such information. Under Section 559.004, Government Code, individuals are entitled to have 
governmental bodies of the State of Texas correct information about such individuals that is incorrect. 

 
Submitted and Certified By:       RFP No.: RFP-17-MH-001 

 
               
(Proposer Institution’s Name)  
 
               
(Signature of Duly Authorized Representative and Title)              (Date) 
 
               
(Proposer’s Address – City, State, Zip)  
 
               
(Telephone Number)         (Email / FAX Number) 
  

http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.021
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.552.htm#552.023
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.559.htm#559.004
http://www.statutes.legis.state.tx.us/Docs/GV/htm/GV.559.htm#559.004
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SECTION 3 
 

PROPOSER’S GENERAL QUESTIONNAIRE 
 
Proposals must include responses to the questions contained in this Proposer’s General Questionnaire. 
Proposer should reference the item number and repeat the question in its response. In cases where a 
question does not apply or if unable to respond, Proposer should refer to the item number, repeat the 
question, and indicate N/A (Not Applicable) or N/R (No Response), as appropriate. Proposer will explain 
the reason when responding N/A or N/R. 

 
3.1 Proposer Profile  
 

3.1.1 Legal name of Proposer company and address of principal place of business.  
 

3.1.2 Is Proposer currently for sale or involved in any transaction to expand or to become 
acquired by another business entity? If yes, Proposer will explain the expected impact, 
both in organizational and directional terms. 

 
3.1.3 Proposer will provide any details of all past or pending litigation or claims filed against 

Proposer that would affect its performance under the resulting agreement with College 
(if any).  

 
3.1.4 Proposer will provide a customer reference list of no less than three (3) organizations with 

which Proposer currently has contracts and/or to which Proposer has previously provided 
services (within the past five (5) years) of a type and scope similar to those required by 
College’s RFP. Proposer will include in its customer reference list the customer’s company 
name, contact person, telephone number, project description, length of business 
relationship, and background of services provided by Proposer.  

 
3.1.5 Does any relationship exist (whether by family kinship, business association, capital 

funding agreement, or any other such relationship) between Proposer and any employee 
of the College? If yes, Proposer will explain.  

 

3.2 Approach to Project Services  
 

3.2.1 Proposer will provide a statement of the Proposer’s service approach and will describe 
any unique benefits to the College from doing business with Proposer. Proposer will 
briefly describe its approach for each of the required services identified in Section 4.2 
Scope of Work of this RFP.  

 
3.2.2 Proposer will provide an estimate of the earliest starting date for services following 

execution of the agreement.  
 

3.2.3 Proposer will submit a work plan with key dates and milestones. The work plan should 
include:  
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3.2.3.1 Identification of tasks to be performed;  
3.2.3.2 Time frames to perform the identified tasks;  
3.2.3.3 Project management methodology; 
3.2.3.4 Implementation strategy; and  
3.2.3.5 The expected time frame in which the services would be implemented.  

 
3.2.4 Proposer will describe the types of reports or other written documents Proposer will 

provide (if any) and the frequency of reporting, if more frequent than required in this RFP. 
Proposer will include samples of reports and documents if appropriate.  

 
3.3 General Requirements  

 
3.3.1 Proposer will provide summary resumes for its proposed key personnel who will be 

providing services under the resulting agreement with the College, including their specific 
experiences with similar service projects, and number of years of employment with 
Proposer.  

 
3.3.2 Proposer will describe any difficulties it anticipates in performing its duties under the 

resulting agreement with the College and how Proposer plans to manage these 
difficulties. Proposer will describe the assistance it will require from the College.  

 
3.4 Service Support  
 

Proposer will describe its service support philosophy, how it is implemented, and how Proposer 
measures its success in maintaining this philosophy.  

 

3.5 Quality Assurance  
 

Proposer will describe its quality assurance program, its quality requirements, and how they are 
measured.  

 

3.6 Value Added Services  
 

3.6.1 Proposer will provide a list of any additional services or benefits not otherwise identified 
in this RFP that Proposer would propose to provide to the College, such as support for 
higher education. Additional services or benefits must be directly related to the goods 
and services solicited under this RFP.  

 
3.6.2 Proposer will provide details describing any unique or special services or benefits offered 

or advantages to be gained by College from doing business with Proposer. Additional 
services or benefits must be directly related to the goods and services solicited under this 
RFP.  
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SECTION 4 
 

ADDENDA CHECKLIST 
 
 
Proposal of: ___________________________________  
   (Proposer Name) 
 
To:  TEXAS STATE TECHNICAL COLLEGE  RFP No.: RFP-17-MH-001  
 
 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:  
 
The undersigned Proposer hereby acknowledges receipt of the following Addenda to the captioned RFP 
(initial blanks for any Addenda issued).  

 
  No. 1 _____ No. 2 _____ No. 3 _____ No. 4 _____ No. 5 _____  
 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
 
 Proposer: ________________________ 
 
 

By: ___________________________  
             (Authorized Signature for Proposer)  

 
Name: _________________________  
 
Title: __________________________  
 
Date: _____________________ 

 
 

 


